IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jun 21 2024
03:03PM EDT
Transaction ID 73456505

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff below, Respondent,

v.

Supreme Court No.: 23-733
Case No. 22-F-5
Circuit Court of Ohio County

WILLIAM ROSS CARMAN,

Defendant below, Petitioner.

	PETITIONER'S BRIEF	

Matthew Brummond
Appellate Counsel
W.Va. Bar No. 10878
Public Defender Services
Appellate Advocacy Division
One Players Club Drive, Suite 301
Charleston, WV 25311
(304) 558-3905
Matt.D.Brummond@wv.gov

Counsel for the Petitioner

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The State charged Petitioner for a home invasion robbery of an acquaintance that culminated in murder. Both Petitioner and his wife were present, and each claimed the other committed the crimes and disclaimed their own involvement.

- I. Are statements by the decedent automatically exempt from the Confrontation Clause due to forfeiture by wrongdoing, or must the State show that the defendant intended to prevent the decedent from testifying?
- II. Can a circuit court exclude evidence of a conviction, offered to impeach a felon's credibility under WVRE 609, because aside from credibility it is irrelevant to the facts of the current case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

There were two eyewitnesses to the murder in this trial: Petitioner and his then-wife, and each said the other was solely responsible for the crimes.¹ The jury believed Petitioner's wife and convicted him of all charges, but only after the court placed its thumb on the scale, twice.² First, in a fact pattern directly out of *State v. Michael C.*,³ the court ruled Petitioner could not impeach his wife with a prior conviction, because aside from credibility her federal drug crime was unrelated to this case.⁴ And second, the court allowed the State to bolster the wife's credibility with the unfronted pretrial statement of the decedent identifying Petitioner as her assailant, on the theory that the murder victim is always unavailable due to the defendant's actions.⁵

As a matter of clear law, this Court has already rejected both legal tests relied upon by the trial court below. Petitioner asks that the Court apply its precedents and order a new trial.

¹ See A.R. 521.

² A.R. 1607–09.

³ *State v. Michael C.*, 248 W. Va. 75, 887 S.E.2d 60 (2023).

⁴ A.R. 947; *but see Michael C.*, 248 W. Va. 75 at Syl. Pts. 3 and 4.

⁵ A.R. 1222; *but see* Syl. Pts. 4 and 5, *State v. Jako*, 245 W. Va. 625, 862 S.E.2d 474 (2021); *Giles v. California*, 554 U.S. 353, 377 (2008).

A. Petitioner and his wife both fled the scene of a home invasion robbery that ended in a murder.

Around 2:00 PM on September 17, 2021, a driver was returning home to the Mozart neighborhood of Wheeling.⁶ Along the way he encountered a woman and child who appeared in distress, and stopped his car to see if they needed help.⁷ Her response was incoherent, but she denied needing police assistance.⁸ Not believing her, the driver called 911.⁹

The woman was Amanda Carman, Petitioner's wife,¹⁰ and she was standing outside Anorah Schostag's home.¹¹ The 911 caller intended to wait in the area for police to arrive,¹² but Petitioner's wife did not.¹³ She fled in Anorah Schostag's car, and the caller returned to his vehicle to follow her.¹⁴ Petitioner's wife began driving out of the neighborhood but, with the 911 caller in pursuit, she instead made a U turn.¹⁵ She returned to the neighborhood, but not before making two brief stops where police would later recover discarded evidence.¹⁶

Police arrived about a minute before Petitioner's wife returned.¹⁷ The initial responding officer first interviewed the 911 caller, then turned her attention to Petitioner's wife.¹⁸ During the questioning, the officer received an order to detain the wife as two things happened.¹⁹ Police saw Petitioner fleeing on foot,²⁰ and other officers discovered Anorah Schostag stabbed to death inside her home.²¹

⁶ A.R. 575-76.

⁷ A.R. 581-82.

⁸ A.R. 582-83.

⁹ *Id.*

¹⁰ A.R. 583.

¹¹ *See* A.R. 587-88; A.R. 612. They later divorced. A.R. 951.

¹² A.R. 590-91.

¹³ A.R. 591-92.

¹⁴ A.R. 592.

¹⁵ A.R. 593.

¹⁶ *Id.*; A.R. 595; A.R. 1297-98.

¹⁷ A.R. 595.

¹⁸ A.R. 610-11.

¹⁹ A.R. 619.

²⁰ A.R. 620; A.R. 623-24; A.R. 649-51; A.R. 700.

²¹ A.R. 625; A.R. 645-46.

B. Each testified the other was solely responsible for the crimes, leaving the jury to decide who was telling the truth.

The jury convicted Petitioner of two counts of child neglect, burglary, robbery, and murder (without mercy) after hearing two very different accounts of what happened inside the decedent's home.²²

Petitioner's wife's testimony: In her statement on the scene and first interview at the police station, Petitioner's wife told officers the assailant was a masked stranger²³ and the State charged her for the murder.²⁴ However, the State agreed to drop that and allow her to plead guilty to gross child neglect.²⁵ But only if she first incriminated Petitioner.²⁶

She testified that at the time of these crimes, she was friends with the decedent.²⁷ She was married to Petitioner but they were estranged, and he was homeless.²⁸ She recently lost her job as a recovery coach, for which she blamed Petitioner, but conceded that her own drug addiction and relapse may have been a factor.²⁹

Two days before the murder, Petitioner's wife sought him out at a homeless encampment to tell him she lost her job.³⁰ Petitioner threatened her and their child, and she helped him purchase a clip for a firearm he had stolen from a relative.³¹ He also told her that he intended to steal from the decedent.³² She tried to dissuade him and said there was always someone home and he could not break in without a confrontation.³³ Petitioner appeared undeterred, and said he could just shoot anyone present.³⁴ Petitioner's wife did not believe he seriously meant to rob or kill anyone, it was just talk.³⁵

²² A.R. 1607-09.

²³ A.R. 633-34; A.R. 1000-01.

²⁴ A.R. 1003.

²⁵ A.R. 1005.

²⁶ A.R. 1003-05.

²⁷ A.R. 951-52.

²⁸ A.R. 953.

²⁹ A.R. 952-55.

³⁰ A.R. 954-55.

³¹ A.R. 956-57.

³² A.R. 957-58.

³³ A.R. 958-59.

³⁴ A.R. 958-61.

³⁵ A.R. 958-60.

According to Petitioner's wife, she did not participate in any planning or discussion beyond trying to dissuade Petitioner.³⁶ She departed and spent the night at the decedent's home with her daughter.³⁷ If she returned to her own home, Petitioner might seek her out and bother her there.³⁸

That evening, Petitioner's wife stayed in a second-floor spare bedroom.³⁹ She warned the decedent about Petitioner, but the decedent did not take him seriously, either.⁴⁰ She and the decedent stayed up late doing drugs.⁴¹ Her daughter would have been in a "Pack 'n Play."⁴² She did not testify to where the decedent's child would have been while the adults partied.

Petitioner's wife stayed with the decedent a second night.⁴³ She awoke sometime that evening to find Petitioner in her room on the second floor.⁴⁴ He had the gun from earlier as well as two knives, one of which belonged to her.⁴⁵ He asked her to help rob the decedent, and she told him to leave.⁴⁶ The decedent's child came upstairs, so the wife escorted both children down to the first floor.⁴⁷ Petitioner then entered the decedent's bedroom.⁴⁸

Petitioner's wife tried to get into the bedroom, but the door was locked.⁴⁹ Both Petitioner and the decedent told her to take care of the children.⁵⁰ She did not see either of them again for at least an hour.⁵¹ At some point that morning, the decedent came

³⁶ A.R. 961–62.

³⁷ A.R. 963–64.

³⁸ A.R. 964.

³⁹ A.R. 964–65.

⁴⁰ A.R. 970–71.

⁴¹ A.R. 967.

⁴² A.R. 966–67.

⁴³ A.R. 968.

⁴⁴ A.R. 968–69.

⁴⁵ A.R. 969; A.R. 976; A.R. 1058.

⁴⁶ A.R. 969.

⁴⁷ *Id.*

⁴⁸ *Id.*

⁴⁹ A.R. 977–78.

⁵⁰ A.R. 978.

⁵¹ A.R. 977.

downstairs.⁵² Petitioner was upstairs asleep.⁵³ The decedent was upset and concerned that her ribs were broken.⁵⁴ She had the gun, and hid it in the kitchen.⁵⁵ She then phoned a friend and told him she had been tied up the night before, but now had freed herself.⁵⁶ Petitioner's wife did not call the police out of fear that Petitioner would kill people, and the decedent did not want to call the police because she had drugs in her home.⁵⁷

Instead of calling the police, the decedent and Petitioner's wife began packing their belongings to leave.⁵⁸ About thirty to forty-five minutes later they had not departed, and Petitioner came downstairs.⁵⁹ Petitioner's wife escorted the children out back to play while Petitioner and the decedent smoked on the front porch together.⁶⁰ While the children played, a neighbor approached to notify her that his security cameras had spotted a stranger—presumably Petitioner—in the neighborhood the night before.⁶¹ She did not seek the neighbor's help during this interaction.⁶²

Petitioner's wife returned to the kitchen, and the decedent was again on the phone with her friend from before.⁶³ At one point, Petitioner also spoke on the phone.⁶⁴ He then passed the phone back, and the decedent spoke for another minute before hanging up.⁶⁵ She testified that after the phone call, Petitioner was concerned the friend on the other end wanted to kill him.⁶⁶

⁵² A.R. 979.

⁵³ A.R. 984.

⁵⁴ A.R. 979.

⁵⁵ A.R. 980.

⁵⁶ A.R. 980–82.

⁵⁷ A.R. 982.

⁵⁸ A.R. 983–84.

⁵⁹ A.R. 983.

⁶⁰ A.R. 985.

⁶¹ *Id.*

⁶² A.R. 986–87.

⁶³ A.R. 987.

⁶⁴ *Id.*

⁶⁵ A.R. 989.

⁶⁶ *Id.*

Petitioner's wife testified that at this point in time, Petitioner and the decedent were pacing back and forth between the kitchen and living room on the ground floor.⁶⁷ The decedent told the wife that Petitioner was leaving, and asked her to put the children down for a nap.⁶⁸ Petitioner's wife took her daughter upstairs, then saw to the other child.⁶⁹ She then saw Petitioner in the second floor office with the decedent.⁷⁰ Petitioner stabbed the decedent, and Petitioner's wife fled with the decedent's child.⁷¹

Petitioner's testimony: The preceding was all according to Petitioner's wife, the only other plausible suspect. Petitioner himself testified very differently. He said that he and his wife had originally planned to steal from the decedent.⁷² The first night she stayed in the guest bedroom, she was supposed to let Petitioner in through the window to cart off money, drugs, and other valuables.⁷³ However, that did not happen.⁷⁴ Petitioner loitered around the neighborhood that night but his wife did not answer her phone or let him inside, so he left.⁷⁵

The next day, Petitioner's wife visited him at the homeless encampment and they called off the intended theft.⁷⁶ Instead, Petitioner's wife would introduce him to the decedent so he could sell her the gun.⁷⁷ The decedent was a smalltime drug dealer, and Petitioner and his wife figured a gun would be valuable to her.⁷⁸ Early the next morning, Petitioner returned to the home and his wife let him in through the backdoor.⁷⁹ Petitioner met the decedent when she awoke for the day.⁸⁰

⁶⁷ A.R. 990.

⁶⁸ A.R. 990-91.

⁶⁹ A.R. 991.

⁷⁰ *Id.*

⁷¹ A.R. 994.

⁷² A.R. 1454.

⁷³ *Id.*

⁷⁴ A.R. 1455.

⁷⁵ *Id.*

⁷⁶ *Id.*

⁷⁷ A.R. 1455-56.

⁷⁸ *Id.*

⁷⁹ A.R. 1456-57.

⁸⁰ *Id.*

The three then got high on the decedent's supply.⁸¹ Petitioner and the decedent discussed the gun, and she was interested.⁸² The decedent suggested Petitioner look through her brother's room in the basement for items to barter.⁸³ While there, he crashed after days of methamphetamine-induced wakefulness, and slept.⁸⁴

When he awoke, Petitioner went upstairs and found the children alone watching TV.⁸⁵ He went to the second floor and found his wife and the decedent in the office, on the phone.⁸⁶ The decedent handed the phone to him to speak with the person on the other line, but Petitioner did not recall what they talked about.⁸⁷ Ten to fifteen seconds after returning the phone, the decedent said she was leaving.⁸⁸ Petitioner's wife then took a knife from her pants pocket and stabbed the decedent.⁸⁹

Petitioner tried to intervene, and his wife stabbed his hand.⁹⁰ He later required surgery for the gash,⁹¹ and per his wife's testimony, she could not account for how he received the injury.⁹² Petitioner ran to the kitchen for towels to apply pressure to his wound.⁹³ He returned to the office and saw his wife standing over the decedent, who was not moving.⁹⁴ He and his wife then fled in separate directions.⁹⁵ Petitioner first tried running through woods in the neighborhood, but the foliage was too thick.⁹⁶ He turned back towards the house.⁹⁷ He ran down the street, which is when the police saw him.⁹⁸

⁸¹ A.R. 1458.

⁸² A.R. 1458-59.

⁸³ A.R. 1458-59.

⁸⁴ A.R. 1459.

⁸⁵ A.R. 1460.

⁸⁶ *Id.*

⁸⁷ A.R. 1461.

⁸⁸ *Id.*

⁸⁹ *Id.*

⁹⁰ *Id.*

⁹¹ A.R. 1464.

⁹² A.R. 1010.

⁹³ A.R. 1461-62.

⁹⁴ A.R. 1462.

⁹⁵ A.R. 1463.

⁹⁶ A.R. 1464.

⁹⁷ *Id.*

⁹⁸ *Id.*

C. The court disallowed Petitioner from impeaching his wife with a felony conviction because it was factually unrelated to the instant case.

Jurors had to decide which version of events to believe, so Petitioner sought to introduce evidence that his wife had a prior federal drug conviction.⁹⁹ However, the State objected, and the court disallowed it, because it was more prejudicial than it was probative concerning the facts of the case.¹⁰⁰ As a result, Petitioner was unable to impeach his chief accuser as a convicted felon.

The defense originally filed the motion pretrial as a request to use WVRE 404(b) evidence.¹⁰¹ The State's theory was that Petitioner was after money and drugs.¹⁰² Petitioner believed that the conviction, which showed his wife's involvement in the drug trade, provided her a motive for the crime.¹⁰³ The court described the connection between the facts of the prior conviction and current prosecution to be "a stretch."¹⁰⁴ It denied the 404(b) motion, reasoning that the prejudice of jurors learning that the State's witness was a convicted felon outweighed the evidence's probative value.¹⁰⁵

At trial, the defense renewed its attempt to use the conviction.¹⁰⁶ Armed with *State v. Michael C.*, Petitioner said he intended to impeach her credibility with the conviction under WVRE 609.¹⁰⁷ Petitioner quoted the rule.¹⁰⁸ Petitioner then quoted from *Michael C.*: "the language of this rule is mandatory evidencing a presumption that a witness's conviction of any crime punishable by imprisonment in excess of one year is fair game for impeachment and thus relevant to credibility."¹⁰⁹

⁹⁹ A.R. 24; A.R. 934.

¹⁰⁰ A.R. 939.

¹⁰¹ A.R. 24.

¹⁰² *See, e.g.*, A.R. 1535.

¹⁰³ A.R. 24–25.

¹⁰⁴ A.R. 25.

¹⁰⁵ A.R. 1898; A.R. 947.

¹⁰⁶ A.R. 934.

¹⁰⁷ A.R. 934–35.

¹⁰⁸ A.R. 935. *See also* WVRE 609 ("For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness other than the accused ... evidence that the witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted[.]").

¹⁰⁹ A.R. 935.

The court and prosecutor were unfamiliar with the recent case and recessed to review copies provided by the defense.¹¹⁰ Back on the record, the court considered the nature of the offense—a felony conviction for methamphetamine trafficking—and inquired about its probative value.¹¹¹ Petitioner proffered his original 404(b) grounds, then added “Additionally, it goes to credibility matters related to this case.”¹¹²

The State objected on 403 grounds.¹¹³ It argued that in this case, there was no evidence of drug trafficking.¹¹⁴ Per the State, “This conviction, number 1, I think it’s far outside of what really -- what the matters are here.”¹¹⁵

The court agreed. When the defense began explaining that, aside from substantive evidence that the conviction went to credibility, the court interjected: “Well that’s different. That’s -- that’s impeachment. ... The question is, can you bring it in, aside from impeachment? I’m trying to figure out what -- what fact does [the conviction] make more or less likely[?]”¹¹⁶ The defense responded that in addition to Petitioner’s perceived substantive value, the conviction went to credibility.¹¹⁷

The circuit court sought to distinguish *Michael C.* In its view, this Court permitted the impeachment in *Michael C.* because the conviction was factually related to the charges.¹¹⁸ It saw no nexus here.¹¹⁹ The court therefore excluded the conviction as irrelevant.¹²⁰ It made no findings of fact concerning the prejudicial impact, but noted that whatever substantive value the evidence had was “outweighed by danger it would create unfair prejudice, confuse the issues, and mislead the jury under a 403 analysis.”¹²¹

¹¹⁰ A.R. 935–37.

¹¹¹ A.R. 937–38.

¹¹² A.R. 938

¹¹³ A.R. 939.

¹¹⁴ *Id.*

¹¹⁵ *Id.*

¹¹⁶ A.R. 940–41.

¹¹⁷ A.R. 941.

¹¹⁸ A.R. 945.

¹¹⁹ *Id.*

¹²⁰ A.R. 947.

¹²¹ *Id.*

D. The court permitted a witness to testify that the decedent had identified Petitioner as her assailant on the theory that Petitioner forfeited the right to confront the witness he was accused of murdering.

In addition to disallowing Petitioner from impeaching his wife, the court also let the State corroborate her testimony with uncontroverted hearsay from the friend the decedent phoned.¹²² In addition to nontestimonial statements by the decedent, the friend also testified that she identified Petitioner as her assailant.¹²³

Petitioner originally moved to exclude the friend's testimony on hearsay grounds.¹²⁴ The court ruled the phone calls and texts could come in as present sense impressions and excited utterances.¹²⁵ However, at trial Petitioner renewed the objection, based upon confrontation grounds.¹²⁶

The State argued that WVRE 807 "trumps" the state and federal constitutions.¹²⁷ The court asked about forfeiture by wrongdoing.¹²⁸ The defense pointed out the absurdity of presuming Petitioner's guilt in a case where only the jury could determine that, and also pointed out that forfeiture by wrongdoing requires that the accused's intent was to render them unavailable for trial.¹²⁹

The court ruled it would admit the testimony upon the strength of its pretrial hearsay ruling.¹³⁰ As to confrontation, it found that the State had made a prima facie case that Petitioner had rendered the decedent unavailable.¹³¹ It made no findings concerning Petitioner's intent.

Later at trial, the friend testified about their phone calls. The decedent called him the first night Petitioner's wife stayed over, and they discussed her day.¹³² She told him

¹²² A.R. 1222.

¹²³ A.R. 1395.

¹²⁴ A.R. 17; A.R. 1858–59.

¹²⁵ A.R. 132–33; A.R. 135.

¹²⁶ A.R. 1218–19.

¹²⁷ A.R. 1220–22.

¹²⁸ A.R. 1220.

¹²⁹ A.R. 1220–21.

¹³⁰ A.R. 1222.

¹³¹ *Id.*

¹³² A.R. 1389–90.

Petitioner's wife was staying with her, and that their children got along well.¹³³ She told her friend that Petitioner's wife would be spending the night again the next day.¹³⁴

The friend next heard from the decedent on the day of her death.¹³⁵ She called him at 11:00 AM, upset.¹³⁶ She said that the night before, she had been tied up and beaten, and threatened with a gun.¹³⁷ She said she was now free, and her assailant was asleep.¹³⁸ The friend asked her to identify her assailant.¹³⁹ The decedent answered, "her husband[,]" which the friend took to mean the house guest's—Petitioner's wife's—husband.¹⁴⁰

The friend urged the decedent to call 911, but she was reluctant and, after calming down, did not believe it was necessary.¹⁴¹ They hung up, with the understanding that she would leave with her child, then call 911 as the friend urged.¹⁴²

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