IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-733

**SCA EFiled: Aug 05 2024
12:55PM EDT
Transaction ID 73947168**

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

WILLAM ROSS CARMAN,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Appeal from the November 11, 2023, Order Circuit Court of Ohio County Case No. 22-F-5
--

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

Holly M. Mestemacher (WV Bar # 7996)
Assistant Attorney General
**State Capitol Complex
Building 6, Suite 406
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: hmestemacher@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833
*Counsel for Respondent***

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Both 804(b)(6) and the Confrontation Clause are triggered by *testimonial* statements. Hence, neither Rule 804(b)(6) nor the Confrontation Clause were violated when the circuit court admitted Ms. Schostag's out of court statements to her friend, Roger Fink, into evidence despite Ms. Schostag's absence from trial, because the statements were nontestimonial. Nontestimonial statements by an unavailable declarant, on the other hand, are not precluded from use by the Confrontation Clause or by Rule of Evidence 804(b)(6). Although the circuit court did not address whether Ms. Schostag's statements were testimonial, the nontestimonial nature of the statements is nonetheless dispositive of this assignment of error.

II. The circuit court properly excluded Ms. Carman's prior conviction for impeachment purposes because the conviction's low probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of creating unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, and misleading the jury. Even if this ruling was erroneous, the impact was negligible. The circuit court allowed Petitioner to question Ms. Carman about probation arising from that conviction and, noting the significant amount of drugs involved in this case, to "explore that" with Ms. Carman as well, both of which were reasons Petitioner sought Rule 609 admission. The only prohibitions were that Petitioner could not identify the specific charge and he could not question Ms. Carman about what was or was not in her probation officer's file regarding spousal abuse. Otherwise, Petitioner's cross-examination of Ms. Carman was unlimited, subject to any objections that arose as the evidence was presented.

III. Petitioner received a fair trial. Both assignments of error are nonconstitutional in nature, making any error harmless when it is highly likely that the error did not impact the outcome of the proceeding. Here, there was no error and even if there was error, the ample evidence independent from Ms. Carman’s testimony and Mr. Fink’s testimony makes it highly probable that error did not contribute to the jury’s finding of guilt.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This case is suitable for disposition by memorandum decision because the record is fully developed, and the arguments of both parties are adequately presented in the briefs. W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(3) and (4).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court’s evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Blake*, 197 W. Va. 700, 705, 478 S.E.2d 550, 555 (1996). The admission of the victim’s out-of-court statement and the exclusion of Rule 609 evidence are evidentiary rulings, thus subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard. Syl. pt. 8, *State v. Blevins*, 231 W. Va. 135, 744 S.E.2d 245 (2013). “Under an abuse of discretion standard, the underlying facts are reviewed for clear error; and questions of law and interpretations of statutes and rules are subject to a *de novo* review.” *State v. Jako*, 245 W. Va. 625, 632-33, 862 S.E.2d 474, 481-82 (2021), *cert. denied sub nom. Jako v. West Virginia*, 142 S. Ct. 1680 (2022) (mem.). “An appellate court should find an abuse of discretion only when the trial court has acted arbitrarily or irrationally.” *State v. Beard*, 194 W. Va. 740, 748, 461 S.E.2d 486, 494 (1995).

Petitioner alleges the circuit court erred in excluding a witness’s prior conviction for impeachment pursuant to Rule of Evidence 609. “The extent to which prior convictions may be introduced to impeach the credibility of a witness other than the defendant in a criminal trial rests

within the sound discretion of the trial court.” Syl. pt. 3, *State v. Michael C.*, 248 W. Va. 75, 887 S.E.2d 60 (2023) (quotations omitted).

Petitioner alleges a violation of his confrontation rights, which is “reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Jako*, at 633, 862 S.E.2d at 482 (quotations omitted); Syl. pt. 6, *State v. Hoard*, 248 W. Va. 428, 889 S.E.2d 1 (2023).

Harmless Error

“Errors involving deprivation of constitutional rights will be regarded as harmless only if there is no reasonable possibility that the violation contributed to the conviction.” *State v. Jenkins*, 195 W. Va. 620, 629, 466 S.E.2d 471, 480 (1995) (quoting syl. pt. 20, *State v. Thomas*, 157 W. Va. 640, 203 S. E.2d 445 (1974)); *see also State v. Omechinski*, 196 W. Va. 41, 48 n.11, 468 S.E.2d 173, 180 n.11 (1996) (“Most errors, including constitutional ones are subject to harmless error analysis . . . simply because it makes no sense to retry a case if the result assuredly will be the same.”) (citing *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 278 (1993)).

“Nonconstitutional error is harmless when it is highly probable the error did not contribute to the judgment.” *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 684, 461 S.E.2d 163, 190 (1995). When dealing with the wrongful admission of evidence, the appropriate test for harmlessness “is whether we can say with fair assurance, after stripping the erroneous evidence from the whole, that the remaining evidence was independently sufficient to support the verdict and the jury was not substantially swayed by the error.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. Neither Rule 804(b)(6) nor the Confrontation Clause were violated when the circuit court admitted Ms. Schostag's out of court statement into evidence despite her absence from trial.

Petitioner asserts that the circuit court erred in admitting Ms. Schostag's statements to Mr. Fink because the circuit court's ruling fell short of Rule of Evidence 804(b)(6) and the Confrontation Clause. Pet'r's Br. 13. Petitioner relies on *State v. Jako*, which discussed forfeiture by wrongdoing at great length. *See Jako*, 245 W. Va. 625, 862 S.E.2d 474. According to Petitioner, the circuit court's ruling thus fell fatally short of *Jako* because it did not apply the correct burden of proof and it failed to make findings regarding Petitioner's intent. Pet'r's Br. 13.

But, the Court need not reach this question. Petitioner is not entitled to relief because both 804(b)(6) and the Confrontation Clause are triggered by *testimonial* statements. Ms. Schostag's statements were not testimonial. As a result, neither Rule 804(b)(6) nor the Confrontation Clause were triggered or violated, and *Jako*'s forfeiture-by-wrongdoing requirements are inapplicable. Although the circuit court did not address whether Ms. Schostag's statements were testimonial, the nontestimonial nature of the statements is nonetheless dispositive of this assignment of error. "This Court may, on appeal, affirm the judgment of the lower court when it appears that such judgment is correct on any legal ground disclosed by the record, regardless of the ground, reason or theory assigned by the lower court as the basis for its judgment." Syl. pt. 3, *Barnett v. Wolfolk*, 149 W. Va. 246, 140 S.E.2d 466 (1965).

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right to confront witnesses who testify against the defendant at trial. *See State v. Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 371, 633 S.E.2d 311, 316 (2006). The Confrontation Clause provides, "[i]n all criminal

prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” U.S. Const. amend VI. “Pursuant to *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36[] (2004), the Confrontation Clause . . . bars the admission of a testimonial statement by a witness who does not appear at trial, unless the witness is unavailable to testify and the accused had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness.” Syl. pt. 1, *Jako*, 245 W. Va. 625, 862 S.E.2d 474; *see also* syl. pt. 6, *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311. Thus, it is “testimonial statements” that cause the declarant to be a “witness” subject to the constraints of the Confrontation Clause. *Smith v. Arizona*, 144 S. Ct. 1785, 1791 (2024); *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. at 373, 633 S.E.2d at 318. As with the Confrontation Clause, only *testimonial* statements trigger the forfeiture-by-wrongdoing doctrine codified in West Virginia Rule of Evidence 804(b)(6). Syl. pt. 4, *Jako*, 245 W. Va. 625, 862 S.E.2d 474.

This Court follows the United States Supreme Court in defining “testimonial” statements using a “‘core class’ of testimonial materials that may be broadened by use of the ‘primary purpose’ test.” *State v. Kennedy*, 229 W. Va. 756, 765, 735 S.E.2d 905, 914 (2012) (quoting *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305, 310 (2009)). These core materials are “extrajudicial statements . . . contained in formalized testimonial materials” and “ex parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent—that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examinations” and the resulting statements or confessions, depositions, affidavits, and “prior testimony . . . , or similar pretrial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially.” *Crawford*, 541 U.S. 36, 51-52 (2004); *see, e.g., Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 822 (2006) (victim’s statements “made in the course of police interrogation” were testimonial when “the primary purpose of the interrogation [was] to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution”); *Jako*, 245 W. Va. at 634, 862 S.E.2d at 483 (undisputed by the parties

that unavailable witness's recorded statements to law enforcement implicating defendant were testimonial). In other words, where a statement is functionally trial testimony, it is testimonial and subject to the constraints of the Confrontation Clause. *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 51. This satisfies "the basic objective of the Confrontation Clause, which is to prevent the accused from being deprived of the opportunity to cross-examine the declarant about statements taken for use at trial." *Michigan v. Bryant*, 562 U.S. 344, 358 (2011).

Nontestimonial statements by an unavailable declarant, on the other hand, are not precluded from use by the Confrontation Clause or by Rule of Evidence 804(b)(6). *Smith*, 144 S. Ct. at 1792 ("In speaking about 'witnesses'—or 'those who bear testimony'—the Confrontation Clause 'confines itself to "testimonial statements.""). Nontestimonial statements include statements such as a "casual remark to an acquaintance" and a witness's statement to law enforcement "when the primary purpose is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency." *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 51; *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 828. Recently, in *State v. Henson*, this Court reaffirmed that statements between friends and acquaintances are nontestimonial. 239 W. Va. 898, 909-10, 806 S.E.2d 822, 833-34 (2017) (quoting *United States v. Jordan*, 509 F.3d 191, 201 (4th Cir. 2007)). Ms. Schostag, being deceased, was not at trial and, thus, not subject to cross-examination, so the only other question is whether Ms. Schostag's statements to Mr. Fink were testimonial. They were not.

Applying the distinction between testimonial and nontestimonial statements to this case makes clear that Ms. Schostag's statements to her friend, Mr. Fink, were nontestimonial. Ms. Schostag's conversations with Mr. Fink were not part of a criminal investigation, they were not part of a statement to or interrogation by law enforcement or some other official, they were not a sworn statement, and they were not part of litigation, a court proceeding, or testimony recorded

for any purpose. Instead, Ms. Schostag called him for comfort and guidance promptly after Petitioner released her from the vicious beating, while she was badly injured and highly upset. App. Vol 8, 1391-95. Ms. Schostag's statements are precisely the type of nontestimonial statements both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have refused to consider as *Crawford* material: statements made by one friend to another.

This Court, in fact, has expressly rejected the argument that *Crawford* applies to statements made by a declarant to friends or associates. *Henson*, 239 W. Va. at 909-10, 806 S.E.2d at 833-34. In so ruling, this Court found a Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals opinion persuasive, in that,

[t]o our knowledge, no court has extended *Crawford* to statements made by a declarant to friends or associates. See *United States v. Franklin*, 415 F.3d 537, 545 (6th Cir. 2005) (concluding that statements were nontestimonial where witness "was privy to [Declarant]'s statements only as his friend and confidant"); *United States v. Saget*, 377 F.3d 223, 229 (2d Cir. 2004) ("Thus, we conclude that a declarant's statements to a confidential informant, whose true status is unknown to the declarant, do not constitute testimony within the meaning of *Crawford*."); *United States v. Manfre*, 368 F.3d 832, 838 n.1 (8th Cir. 2004) ("[Declarant]'s comments were made to loved ones or acquaintances and are not the kind of memorialized, judicial-process-created evidence of which *Crawford* speaks.").

Id. (citing *Jordan*, 509 F.3d at 201). The *Henson* Court thus concluded "there is no implication of the Confrontation Clause as the statements made to friends or acquaintances were nontestimonial, as the statements 'would [not] lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial.'" *Id.* (citing syl. pt. 8, *Mechling*, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311). The same principles apply to the case at bar: statements between friends are nontestimonial.

Consequently, because Ms. Schostag's statements to Mr. Fink during their telephone conversations were nontestimonial, neither Rule of Evidence 804(b)(6) nor the Confrontation Clause were triggered. Correspondingly, the lower court never needed to even consider *Jako* or the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine because of the nontestimonial nature of the statements. For

this reason and because the circuit court found Ms. Schostag's telephone conversations with Mr. Fink to be admissible hearsay pursuant to Rules 803(1) present sense impression exception, 803(2) excited utterance exception, and the Rule 807 residual exception—rulings that are not challenged on appeal—the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Mr. Fink to testify about his conversations with Ms. Schostag. The circuit court should be affirmed.

II. The circuit court properly excluded a witness's prior conviction for impeachment purposes because the conviction's low probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of creating unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, and misleading the jury.

Petitioner next argues that the circuit court misapplied and misunderstood Rule of Evidence 609 and *Michael C.* when it precluded him from impeaching Ms. Carman with her 2013 federal conviction for drug distribution. Pet'r's Br. 15-16. Petitioner contends the circuit court required the eligible conviction to be factually related to the issues charged, which this Court deemed immaterial for purposes of 609. Pet'r's Br. 16. He thus argues that the circuit court weighed the wrong factors, placing weight on relevance rather than the value of impeachment. Notably, however, if it did so, the reason exemplifies the soundness of its ruling: Petitioner's argument to the lower court was disjointed and essentially tossed a mess of theories at the proverbial fan.

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